SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

									THE COURT
					, a person the Juvenile	Court.			
								Jt	F1 5 7 1916
THE PEO	PLE	OF THE	STATE	OF	CALIFORNIA)			eg attion cases
					Respondent))) B2564	480		1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1
		vs.				•	Ct.	No.MJ21 geles)	492
ALB	BERT	С)			
					Appellant)			
	יייי א ד	EDOM T	שב פווחו	ZD T/	OD COLIDE OF I		TIPO	COHMINI	

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS
HONORABLE DENISE MCLAUGHLIN-BENNETT, JUDGE PRESIDING

Laini Millar Melnick 1187 Coast Village Road Suite 1-573 Santa Barbara, CA 93108 (805) 770-7624 State Bar No. 133004

Attorney for Appellant Albert C.

A.	Introduction
B.	The Protocol Implements Welfare and Institutions Code section 709 36
C.	The Protocol's Timelines for the Detention of a Minor While Proceedings Are Suspended under Section 709 Provide a Necessary and Reasonable Rebuttable Presumption of a Due Process Violation
Conc	lusion
Certi	ficate of Word Count
Proof	of Sarvice

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

California Cases

Hogoboom v. Superior Court (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 653
In re Davis (1973) 8 Cal 3d 798
In re James H. (1978)77 Cal. App. 3d 169
In re Jesus G. (2013) 218 Cal. App. 4 th 157 8, 9, 19, 20, 33, 35, 36 41
In re John Z. (2014) 223 Cal. App. 4 th 1046
In re Newmann (1976) 65 Cal. App. 3d 57
In re Ramon M. (22 Cal. 3d 419
<i>In re R.V</i> (2015) 61 Cal 4 th 181
People v. Hale (1988) 44 Cal. 3d 531
People v. Pennington (1967) 66 Cal. 2d 508
People v. Superior Court (Lopez) (2005) 125 Cal. App. 4th 1558
Timothy J. V. Superior Court (2007) 150 Cal. App.4th 847
California Statutes
Evidence Code section 600
Evidence Code section 605
Penal Code section 71
Penal Code section 243 (d)
Penal Code section 245(a)(4)
Penal Code section 422
Penal Code section 1368
Penal Code section 1370
Penal Code section 1370.1
Penal Code section 29610
Welfare and Institutions Code section 300
Welfare and Institutions Code section 602
Welfare and Institutions Code section 709 8, 9, 19, 20, 26, 27, 33,34

California Rules

Rule 8.520 subd (b)(2)(A)
Other California Sources
Amended Competency to Stand Trial Protocol, Los Angeles County Juvenile Court January 12, 2012
Assembly Committee on Public Safety, Bill Analysis, April 13, 2010 hearing on AB 2212 as amended April 8, 2010
Federal Cases
County of Riverside v. McLaughlin (1991) 500 U.S. 44, [114 L. Ed. 2d 49; 111 S. Ct. 1661]
Dusky v. United States (1960) 362 U.S 402 [L.Ed 2d 824, 80 S.Ct 788]
Gerstein v. Pugh (1975) 420 U.S. 103 [43 L. Ed. 2d 54; 95 S. Ct. 854
Jackson v. Indiana (1972) 406 U.S. 715 [32 L. Ed. 2d 435; 92 S. Ct. 1845] 8, 9, 19, 20, 21, 31, 32, 36,41
Pate v. Robinson (1966) 383 U.S. 375 [L.Ed. 2d 815, 86 S.Ct 836]
Other Authority
Larson, K. And Grisso T., "Developing Statutes for Competence to Stand Trial in Juvenile Delinquency Proceedings: A Guide for Lawmakers" National Youth Screening and Assessment Project (November 2011) 28, 3, 39, 40, 41

Morris, G., and Maloy, J. "Out of Mind? Out of Sight: The Uncivil Commitment of
Permanently Incompetent Criminal Defendants," 27 U.C. Davis L. Rev. 1, 10-11 (Fall
1993.)
Viljoen, L. And Grisso, T., " Prospects for Remediating Juveniles' Adjudicative
Incompetence," Psychology, Public Policy, and Law Vol. 13, No. 2 84-114 (2007). 30

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.520 subdivision (b)(2)(A), the is following issues are presented for review:

- Did the juvenile court violate minor's due process rights by detaining him well past the 120-day limit established in the Los Angeles County Superior Court Juvenile Division's "Amended Competency to Stand Trial Protocol" (Protocol), without evidence of progress toward attaining competency?
- 2. Does a violation of the Protocol establish a presumption of a due process violation?

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, the minor was was fifteen years old when a petition was filed against him in the juvenile court under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602. The minor was found incompetent and delinquency proceedings were suspended. Albert was detained in juvenile hall for 294 days for competency training without evidence of progress toward the attainment of competency.

A person charged with a criminal offense and committed on account of incompetency to proceed to trial has a due process right not to be detained for more than the reasonable period of time necessary to determine whether there is a substantial probability of attainment of competency in the foreseeable future.

(Jackson v. Indiana (1972) 406 U.S. 715, 738 [32 L. Ed. 2d 435; 92 S. Ct. 1845]; In re Davis (1973) 8 Cal. 3d 798, 805.) Even if it is determined that the accused probably soon will be competent to stand trial, any continued detention must be justified by progress toward that goal. (Jackson v. Indiana, supra, 406 U.S. at 738; In re Davis 8 Cal. 3d at 806.)

Minors have the same due process rights. (*In re R.V.* (2015) 61 Cal. 4th 181, 185.) When a minor is found incompetent to stand trial, delinquency proceedings must be suspended for a reasonable period of time until it can be determined whether there is a substantial probability that the minor will attain competency in the foreseeable future while the court still retains jurisdiction. (Id at 191-192, citing Welf & Inst. Code § 709 subd (c).)

Welfare and Institutions Code section 709 subdivision (c) provides only that proceedings be suspended for a "reasonable" period of time, thereby allowing for an indefinite commitment in violation of the mandate *of Jackson v. Indiana*. For proceedings in the Los Angeles juvenile courts, however, the Amended Competency to Stand Trial Protocol ("the Protocol") ¹ adds rules to implement Welfare and Institutions Code section 709 including time limits to prevent the indefinite commitment of minors who are not likely to recover competence or who are not making progress toward competency. (*In re Jesus G.* (2013) 218 Cal. App. 4th 157, 171.) Specifically, the Protocol provides that no

¹ The Amended Competency to Stand Trial Protocol ("the Protocol") was issued by the Presiding Judge of the Los Angeles juvenile court on January 12, 2012. It sets forth detailed procedures to govern competency proceedings in delinquency proceedings.

minor may be detained in juvenile hall for more than 120 days for the purpose of attaining competency, and then only if there is evidence that competence will likely be attained within that time frame. The Protocol establishes a presumptive violation of due process by implementing a concrete time limit to define the "reasonable " time limit of Welfare and Institutions Code section 709 and in so doing prevents an indefinite and unconstitutional detention. (In re Jesus G. (2013) 218 Cal. App. 4th 157, 174.) In this case, reports submitted to the court by the organization responsible for competency training showed that when the minor had been detained for 120 days, there was no evidence of progress toward competency.

Throughout the time he was detained in juvenile hall, the court repeatedly denied the minor's motions to dismiss the petitions or to release him from custody, even while the competency reports consistently showed that he had not attained competency and was not making progress toward that goal. In detaining the minor in juvenile hall for so long only by reason of his incompetence, and while there was no evidence of progress towards attainment of competency, the juvenile court violated the federal and state constitutional right to due process of law as set forth in *Jackson v. Indiana* and *In re Davis*, supra and also the express time limits of the Protocol.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL FACTS 2

In June 2012, when the minor was fourteen, a petition was filed charging him with one count of threatening a public officer in violation of Penal Code section 71. (Clerk's Transcript, "CT" 1).³ The minor denied the allegation. (CT 6.) At that time, there were five substantiated referrals for neglect or abuse of the minor under Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, and the minor was a dependent of the juvenile court. (CT 17, 34.)

A second petition was filed on February 14, 2013, alleging assault likely to produce great bodily injury (Penal Code section 245 (a)(4)); battery with serious bodily injury (Penal Code section 243 (d)); possession of a firearm by a minor (Penal Code section 29610); and criminal threats (Penal Code section 422 (a).) (CT 51-52)

On February 15, 2013, the court declared a doubt as to the minor's competency and suspended the delinquency proceedings. The court appointed Dr Kambam to perform a competency evaluation and the minor was detained in juvenile hall. (CT 70.) Dr Kambam's report⁴ stated that with appropriate mental

² Because the minor ultimately admitted two counts of the allegations against him in a settlement in which the court dismissed the other allegations, there is no testimony about the facts of the allegations he admitted, and those facts are not relevant to the legal issues presented on appeal. Accordingly, there is no separate Statement of Facts in this brief, but a Statement of the Case and Procedural Facts that provides the context for the legal issues on appeal.

³ The Clerk's Transcript comprises a single volume.

⁴ Dr Kambam's report was not in the record before the Court of Appeal. It was part of the record in a habeas corpus petition filed on behalf of minor in that

health services and medication trials, the minor could likely attain competency within 12 months (Reporter's Transcript "RT" vol. I, 22, 87.) ⁵ At a competency hearing on March 19, 2013, the minor was determined not to be presently competent, delinquency proceedings remained suspended, and the minor remained in juvenile hall. (CT 73.)

The court ordered the Probation Department and the Department of Mental Health (DMH) to evaluate the minor and to submit a joint written report with their recommendations for the minor's treatment and an assessment whether he was likely to regain competence in the foreseeable future. (CT 73.) The probation department filed a report stating that there was no set protocol or procedure for completing the report the court had ordered, and that Probation and the DMH were therefore unable to collaborate to decide what kind of treatment or services would be appropriate for the minor. (CT 74.) The court directed the Probation Department to prepare an Incompetent to Stand Trial

court in case number B251114. The court took judicial notice of it, as a court record which was an essential component of minor's contentions on appeal. (Evid. Code, $\S\S$ 452, subd. (d)(1), 459, subd. (a).) This court may take judicial notice in the same manner.

⁵ The Reporter's Transcript comprises two volumes, each labeled "Volume 1 of 1". In this brief, volume I refers to the Augmented Reporter's Transcript which includes the hearings on August 8, 2012, February 15, 2013, March 7, 2013, March 19, 2013, April 10, 2013, May 23, 2013, June 20, 2013, July 17, 2013, August 15, 2013, August 26, 2013 September 18, 2013, October 6, 2013, November 12, 2013, January 13, 2014, February 4, 2014, and February 20, 2014. Volume II contains the hearings held on February 20, 2014, March 4, 2014, and March 18. 2014. This designation of the volumes follows the chronology of the proceedings in the juvenile court.

("IST") planning report and to refer the minor to the Regional Center if appropriate. Meanwhile, the minor remained detained in juvenile hall. (CT 77.)

On April 17, 2013, the Probation Department reported that the minor would be referred to an organization named Creative Support for approximately twenty total hours of competency training, to be provided in weekly sessions while the minor was detained in juvenile hall. Creative Support would administer an assessment test at the first session, and would provide a written report to the court upon completion of the training. (CT 78.) Nine days later, Creative Support informed the Probation Department that it could not provide competency training at Sylmar Juvenile Hall where the minor was housed and the court ordered the minor's transfer to Eastlake Juvenile Hall. (CT 92, 93.) Meanwhile delinquency proceedings remained suspended, and the competency hearing was continued to May 23, 2013. (CT 81.)

On May 23, 2013, counsel for the minor renewed her continuing objection to the minor's detention in juvenile hall. She informed the court that although the minor had now been in custody in juvenile hall for four months, he had received only two competency training sessions. She argued that under the Protocol, the case should be dismissed if the minor did not attain competency within sixty days. (RT vol. I, 30- 31.) The court ordered probation to include in its next report an assessment whether the minor could regain competency in the foreseeable future, and continued the competency proceedings to June 20, 2013 over the objection of counsel. (RT vol. I, 35.)

On June 17, 2013, three days before the next scheduled competency hearing, the probation officer reported that Creative Support planned to give the

minor an assessment test on June 19, 2013 and to provide a copy to the officer on the same day. (CT 99.) Probation therefore requested another one month continuance for a progress report on the minor's attainment of competency. (CT 101.) Counsel for the minor argued that the minor could not be detained for competency training if he was not making progress toward attainment. She asked for an attainment of competency hearing to be set as required by the Protocol, and for Dr Kambam to be appointed again to evaluate the minor and to determine whether the probation department had done was it was supposed to do to help him achieve competency. (RT vol. I, 41.) The court denied counsel's requests and continued the competency hearing to July 17, 2013. The court ordered the probation department to prepare a supplemental report addressing the support services provided to the minor, the outcome of the assessment test, and an opinion whether the minor had attained or could attain competency. The minor remained in detention at juvenile hall over counsel's objection. (CT 102, RT vol. I, 51.)

On July 11, 2013, Creative Support sent a report to the Probation

Department, indicating that the minor was still incompetent to stand trial. (CT 106 - 108.) The report was submitted to the court but on July 17, 2013, the juvenile court again continued the proceedings to determine whether the minor had made progress in competency training and again denied the minor's motion to be released from detention. (CT 109.) Counsel for the minor repeated her request that the court order the reappointment of Dr Kambam to evaluate whether the services the minor was receiving had helped him in making progress towards competency. The court denied the motion as premature, stating that it was not yet

in receipt of any evidence that there had been a finding about the minor's ability to regain competency. The court stated that counsel could readdress her request for dismissal of the petitions on the next calendared date, August 15, 2013. (RT 51.) The court also denied counsel's motion to dismiss the petitions and to terminate jurisdiction (RT vol. I, 49-50, 52.)

On August 1, 2013, Creative Support reported to the Probation Department that the minor had begun competency training on May 9, 2013 and had received training once a week for one and half hours. He had been tested three times, on May 9, 2013, June 19, 2013, and July 31, 2013, and had failed the test each time. The report included the minor's scores for the tests administered in June and July, and concluded that he was currently incompetent to stand trial. (CT 113-114.)

At the next court hearing, on August 15, 2013, counsel for the minor asked the court to rule that the minor was unlikely to attain competency in the near future. She moved for dismissal of all charges because of the juvenile court's failure to adhere to the Protocol governing juvenile competency proceedings and to the constitutional standard of due process. (RT vol. I, 59 - 60.) The court denied the motions and continued the competency hearings. The minor remained in custody in juvenile hall. (CT 116.) The matter was continued again on August 26, 2013. The minor was to continue to receive competency training and was to remain detained in juvenile hall. (CT 117.) On September 10, 2013, the counsel for the minor filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus on the grounds of the minor's illegal detention: he had been in custody more than 120 days, had been tested four times and was not scoring grades that demonstrated competency. (RT vol. I, 81)

On September 12, 2013, Creative Support submitted another report on the minor's competency training, stating that the minor was still incompetent to stand trial. (CT 121.) At the next hearing, on September 18, 2013, the juvenile court continued the matte yet again, pending the minor's referral to the Regional Center. Delinquency proceedings remained suspended, and the minor remained in detention at juvenile hall over the objection of counsel. (CT 124)

In October 10, 2013, Creative Support submitted another report on the minor's competency training, stating that the minor was still incompetent to stand trial. (CT 128-130.) At a hearing on October 16, 2013, the court expressed concern that the report from Creative Services was the same as the previous one, and there was no way to know whether the test was capable of preventing malingering by the minor. (RT vol. I, 93.) The court ordered the appointment of a second expert to evaluate the minor for competency. Counsel for the minor requested that Dr Kambam be appointed because, having conducted the first evaluation, he had a baseline against which to measure any progress. (RT vol. I, 96-97.) The court denied the request on the ground that "his second opinion would not be in all party's [sic] best interest. " (RT vol. I, 98.) Instead, Dr Haig Kojian was appointed as the next expert in line on the panel. (RT vol. I, 98, CT 131.) Counsel for the minor renewed her motions to release the minor and dismiss the petitions, which the court denied and continued the matter to November 12, 2013. (RT vol. I, 96, CT 131.)

On November 12, 2013, counsel for the minor renewed her motions for release from detention and dismissal of the petitions and the court again denied them. (RT vol. I, 122-123.) The matter was continued to January 13, 2014, pending

a report from Dr. Cory Knapke who was appointed on November 1, 2013 to replace Dr Haig Kojian who had a conflict of interest. (CT 132, 137)

On January 13, 2014, the court received Dr Knapke's report finding the minor incompetent to stand trial on the basis of his developmental immaturity. (CT 139.) At the request of the District Attorney, the court scheduled a further hearing at which both Dr Knapke and a staff person from Creative Support were to be available to testify. (CT 139.) Counsel for the minor filed a habeas petition to stay further proceedings in the juvenile court but the petition was denied. (CT 140) The minor's motion to refer his case to Department 203, the Juvenile Mental Health Court was also denied. (CT 142, 150.)

On February 4, 2014, nearly 10 months after the IST hearing, the court held an attainment of competency hearing at which both Dr Knapke and Nico Gipson testified (CT 150.) Gipson was the minor's competency trainer from Creative Services, and she testified the minor was making a good effort but was consistently unable to pass the tests she administered. (RT vol. I, 150, 174, 180.) Dr Knapke opined that there was no medical reason the minor could not attain competency, but conceded that without a further evaluation, he could not say to a medical certainty that the minor was competent. (RT vol. I, 233.)

The court found that the minor competent and reinstated the juvenile delinquency proceedings. The minor's motion to refer the matter to the Juvenile Mental Health Court was again denied and the minor remained in custody at juvenile hall. (CT 149-150 .) On February 20, 2014, the minor admitted both petitions. The court found both petitions true as to count one and dismissed the

remaining counts pursuant to an agreement. (CT 176.) The minor was detained in juvenile hall pending disposition. (CT 176.)

The probation officer's Supplemental Disposition Report recommended the minor be referred to the Juvenile Mental Health Court. (CT 182, 184.) The minor's dependency counsel recommended that he remain a dependent of the juvenile court and not be declared a ward under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602, or that he be placed under dual supervision. (CT 185, 187.) Despite these recommendations, the juvenile court declared the minor a ward of court under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602, denied the minor's request for referral to the Juvenile Mental Health Court, and placed him in the custody of the probation officer for suitable placement with conditions of probation. (CT 188-189.)

ARGUMENT

Ţ

THE JUVENILE COURT VIOLATED THE MINOR'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN IT DETAINED HIM IN JUVENILE HALL FOR COMPETENCY TRAINING FOR 294 DAYS, WELL PAST THE 120 DAY LIMIT ESTABLISHED IN THE PROTOCOL, WITHOUT ANY EVIDENCE OF PROGRESS TOWARD THE ATTAINMENT OF COMPETENCY

A. The Constitutional and Statutory Right to Due Process in Competency Proceedings

Due process principles require trial courts to employ procedures to guard against the trial of an incompetent defendant. (*In re R.V., supra, 61* Cal. 4th at 188;

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