In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re ALBERT C., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ALBERT C.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S231315

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUL 27 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B256480 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. MJ21492 The Honorable Denise McLaughlin-Bennett, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. BACKGROUND ON RELEVANT LAW AND POLICY

A. Due Process Protections

The criminal trial of a defendant who is mentally incompetent violates due process. (E.g., *Medina v. California* (1992) 505 U.S. 437, 453.) That protection extends to minors in juvenile delinquency proceedings under Welfare and Institutions Code section 602. (*In re R.V.* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 181, 185; see also *James H. v. Superior Court* (1978) 77 Cal.App.3d 169, 173-175 ("*James H.*").)

In *Jackson v. Indiana* (1972) 406 U.S. 715, the United States Supreme Court held that if a criminal defendant is detained solely on account of incompetence to stand trial, due process forbids the State from detaining him longer "than the reasonable period of time necessary to determine whether there is a substantial probability that he will attain that capacity in the foreseeable future." (*Id.* at p. 738.) If "it is determined that the defendant probably soon will be able to stand trial," any "continued commitment must be justified by progress toward that goal." (*Ibid.*)

Recognizing the wide variety of "differing state facilities and procedures," the Court in *Jackson* concluded that it was not "appropriate for us to attempt to prescribe arbitrary time limits" on either the initial period for assessing the defendant's competency or the period of continued detention for helping the defendant attain competency. (*Ibid.*)

This Court adopted the *Jackson* framework in *In re Davis* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 798, accepting "Jackson's premise that due process demands that the duration of commitments to state hospitals must bear some reasonable relation to the purpose which originally justified the commitment." (Id. at p. 805.) Like the United States Supreme Court in Jackson, this Court did not adopt a particular timeline for assessing competency. It suggested that 90 days will "ordinarily" be "adequate to allow the hospital authorities a reasonable opportunity to report regarding the likelihood of a defendant's recovery," but expressly declined to set any specific or presumptive time limit, leaving that to the trial court's "sound discretion." (See id. at p. 806. fn. 5.) Similarly, the Court declined to impose any specific limit on the period of detention for purposes of attaining competency. It instructed that "[t]he trial court necessarily must exercise sound discretion in deciding whether, in a particular case, sufficient progress is being made to justify continued commitment pending trial." (Id. at p. 807.) In exercising that discretion, "the trial court should consider, among other things, the nature of the offense charged, the likely penalty or range of punishment for the offense, and the length of time the person has already been confined." (*Ibid.*) The trial court should also require, "within a reasonable time, additional periodic reports regarding the person's progress." (*Ibid.*)

Cases involving juveniles often present issues that differ from those confronted by courts conducting adult competency proceedings. Among other things, "[j]uvenile incompetency is not defined solely 'in terms of mental illness or disability,' but also encompasses developmental

immaturity, because minors' brains are still developing." (*In re John Z.* (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 1046, 1053; see also *Timothy J. v. Superior Court* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 847, 860.) A juvenile who is found to be incompetent based on developmental immaturity will typically require different treatment from someone who suffers from a mental illness or disability.

B. Statutory Protections

Prior to *Jackson* and *Davis*, the Penal Code provided for the indefinite suspension of adult criminal proceedings and commitment of a defendant for treatment "until he becomes sane" or until the criminal charges were dismissed. (Stats. 1968, ch. 1374, § 2, p. 2637.) After those cases were decided, the Legislature amended Penal Code section 1370 to provide that adult criminal proceedings could be suspended and the defendant committed for an initial 90-day period of assessment, to be followed by continued commitment and treatment only if that initial assessment "discloses a substantial likelihood that the defendant will regain mental competence in the foreseeable future." (Pen. Code, § 1370, subd. (b)(1); see Stats. 1974, ch. 1511, § 6, p. 3319.) In no event may commitment on the basis of incompetence exceed three years from the date of commitment or the maximum term of imprisonment provided for the most serious offense charged, whichever is shorter. (Pen. Code, § 1370, subd. (c); Stats. 1974, ch. 1511, § 6, p. 3319.) The Legislature left other matters to the discretion of the trial court. (See, e.g., Pen. Code, § 1370, subd. (a)(1)(B) [selection of an alternative placement for treatment].)

Penal Code section 1370 did not address minors in juvenile delinquency proceedings. Acknowledging that there was no statute governing juvenile competency determinations, the Court of Appeal in *James H.* "improvise[d]" procedures based on the statutory procedures for adult criminal defendants. (*James H.*, *supra*, 77 Cal.App.3d at p. 173; see

id. at pp. 176-178.) In 1999, the Judicial Council incorporated many of those procedures into former rule 1498 of the California Rules of Court (current rule 5.645). (See *In re R.V.*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at pp. 189-190.)

In 2010, the Legislature enacted a new statute, Welfare and Institutions Code section 709, to govern juvenile competency proceedings. (Stats. 2010, ch. 671 (A.B. 2212).) Section 709 requires the court to suspend juvenile proceedings whenever it finds that "substantial evidence raises a doubt as to the minor's competency." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 709, subd. (a).) A minor is incompetent for purposes of section 709 if he or she lacks "sufficient present ability to consult with counsel and assist in preparing his or her defense with a reasonable degree of rational understanding, or lacks a rational as well as factual understanding, of the nature of the charges or proceedings against him or her." (*Ibid.*) Once proceedings are suspended, the court must set a hearing to determine competency and appoint an expert to evaluate the minor. (*Id.*, subd. (b); see id., subd. (c) [the "proceedings shall remain suspended for a period of time that is no longer than reasonably necessary to determine whether there is a substantial probability that the minor will attain competency in the foreseeable future"].) Section 709 provides no specific time limit on the period for assessing the minor's competency or on the period that a minor may be detained while he receives training or treatment to attain competency. (See ABOM 20.)⁷ Since 2010, the Legislature has considered additional proposals regarding juvenile competency proceedings and enacted two amendments to section 709. (See *post*, pp. 39-40.)

⁷ An early version of the bill creating section 709 contained a sixmonth limit on suspension of proceedings. (Assem. Bill No. 2212 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 8, 2010, § 1.) That limit was removed by the Senate. (See Assem. Bill No. 2212 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 10, 2010, § 1.)

C. Local Protocols

Juvenile courts in several counties have adopted protocols governing juvenile competency proceedings. This case implicates the Los Angeles County Superior Court Juvenile Division's "Amended Competency to Stand Trial Protocol" (the Los Angeles Protocol), adopted in a 2012 memorandum from Presiding Judge Nash.⁸ Among other things, the Los Angeles Protocol directs that if a minor is found to be incompetent, and the court determines that there is a substantial probability the minor will attain competency in the foreseeable future, the matter is to be set for an Attainment of Competency Hearing within 60 days, and every 60 days after that until either the minor attains competency or the court determines that further efforts at attainment would not be successful. (Los Angeles Protocol, *supra*, at pp. 6-7.) It states that the minor may only be detained pending attainment of competency "if it is a matter of immediate and urgent necessity for the protection of the minor or reasonably necessary for the protection of the person or property of another," or if "the minor is likely to flee." (Id. at p. 6.) It also provides that "[t]he minor may not be held in a juvenile hall to participate in attainment services for more than one hundred and twenty days." (Id. at p. 7.) In addition to the Los Angeles Protocol,

⁸ See Presiding Judge Michael Nash, Mem. to All Juvenile Delinquency Court Judicial Officers and All Interested Parties, Entities, and Agencies, Jan. 9, 2012 http://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/LA-Competency-Protocol.pdf> [as of July 25, 2016].

⁹ On June 1, 2015, after the events of this case took place, the 2012 protocol was superseded by a slightly revised protocol. All of the provisions described above appear in the revised protocol. (See Presiding Judge Michael Levanas, Mem. to All Juvenile Delinquency Court Judicial Officers and All Interested Parties, Entities, and Agencies, June 1, 2015 http://www.lacourt.org/division/juvenile/pdf/CompetencyProtocol.pdf [as of July 25, 2016].)

juvenile courts in at least five other counties—Alameda, Orange, Sacramento, San Diego, and Santa Clara—have adopted their own protocols, all of which differ from the Los Angeles Protocol in their terms and approach.¹⁰ So far as the State is aware, none of those protocols adopts a 120-day limit on confinement in juvenile hall.

II. ALBERT'S DETENTION SATISFIED THE DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENTS RECOGNIZED IN JACKSON AND DAVIS

In light of the framework adopted in *Jackson* and *Davis*, Albert's due process challenge requires the Court to consider two distinct questions. The first question is whether Albert's initial detention following the first suggestion of incompetence on February 15, 2013, exceeded the reasonable period of time necessary to determine whether there was a substantial probability that he would attain competency in the foreseeable future. (See *Jackson*, *supra*, 406 U.S. at p. 738). The second question is whether Albert's continued detention between the finding of incompetence in March 2013 and the juvenile court's determination in February 2014 that Albert had attained competency was "justified by progress toward" the attainment of competency. (*Ibid.*) The record establishes that both periods of detention satisfied the requirements of due process.

A. Albert Was Permissibly Detained Pending a Prompt Assessment of His Competency by a Psychiatrist

The juvenile court acted swiftly to protect Albert's "due process right not to be tried while mentally incompetent." (*In re R.V.*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 185.) Albert's counsel first suggested that Albert was incompetent

¹⁰ See generally Competency to Stand Trial: Local Protocols http://www.courts.ca.gov/cfcc-delinquency.htm [as of July 25, 2016]; Juvenile Competency Protocol: A Manual for Alameda County (March 1, 2013) http://www.acbhcs.org/providers/documentation/SOC/AC_Juvenile_Competency_Protocol.pdf [as of July 25, 2016].

during the arraignment on February 15, 2013. (1 RT 15). Within minutes, the juvenile court suspended the delinquency proceedings as to both petitions, appointed a psychiatrist to evaluate Albert, and set the matter for a competency hearing. (See 1 RT 15-16; CT 70.)

The ensuing period in which the court awaited a professional assessment of Albert's condition and his ability to attain competency was relatively short. Dr. Kambam, the court-appointed psychiatrist, evaluated Albert on March 12, 2013 and issued his report on March 17. (Kambam Report, *supra*, pp. 1, 2.) That report concluded, "with reasonable medical certainty," that Albert was not presently mentally competent, but "that there is substantial probability that [Albert] will attain Competency to Stand Trial in the next 12 months with the proper mental health services and education." (*Id.* at p. 12.) On March 19—just 32 days after the first suggestion of incompetence—the juvenile court found that Albert was "not presently mentally competent" based on its review of Dr. Kambam's report and the parties' stipulations. (CT 73; 1 RT 20-21.) The court ordered Albert to receive treatment related to attaining competency. (See CT 73.)

This short initial period of detention did not exceed the "reasonable period of time necessary" to determine whether there was a substantial probability that Albert would attain competency in the foreseeable future. (*Jackson*, *supra*, 406 U.S. at p. 738.) Although there are no "arbitrary time limits" on the outer bounds of that initial period, this Court has observed that "a 90-day period for the initial observation of a defendant" should generally be adequate to allow medical officials "a reasonable opportunity to report regarding the likelihood of a defendant's recovery." (*Davis*, *supra*, 8 Cal.3d at p. 806, fn. 5.) In this case, Dr. Kambam prepared his report in one-third of that time. Dr. Kambam's conclusion that Albert would likely attain competency within a year provided a constitutionally sufficient basis for the juvenile court's decision, two days later, to continue

to detain Albert for purposes of helping him attain competency. (See *Davis*, *supra*, at p. 801.)

B. Albert's Continued Detention After the Finding of Incompetence Complied with Due Process

In contrast to the brief initial period of detention for evaluating Albert's competency, the period in which Albert was detained for purposes of helping him attain competency was substantially more lengthy. All told, Albert spent 322 days in juvenile hall between the juvenile court's initial determination that he was incompetent and its determination that he had attained competency. The juvenile court confronted several delays during this period, as it sought to ensure that Albert received proper treatment, to obtain information necessary to evaluate his progress, and to address concerns about possible malingering. Some of those delays resulted from miscommunications involving local agencies and service providers; others resulted from continuances requested by the parties, including by Albert's counsel. At the same time, the court's efforts to place Albert in a lessrestrictive, "level 14" facility were frustrated by several factors, including a lack of beds at local facilities and the refusal of multiple facilities to accept Albert due to safety concerns. 11 Ideally, juvenile competency proceedings entail an efficient and collaborative effort involving the court, the parties, and local agencies to accurately evaluate the minor and, if necessary, to help him attain competency as swiftly as possible. The proceedings below fell short of that ideal in several respects. As explained below, however, the circumstances here do not establish a due process violation under the framework of *Jackson* and *Davis*.

Davis recommended that if the health professionals who evaluate an incompetent defendant are "optimistic regarding the person's probable

¹¹ See, e.g., 1 RT 56-57, 79-80, 112; CT 127, 136.

recovery, the court should continue his commitment and require the hospital authorities to furnish, within a reasonable time, additional periodic reports regarding the person's progress." (*Davis*, *supra*, 8 Cal.3d at p. 807.) The juvenile court applied that approach in Albert's case. (See CT 73; 1 RT 21-22.) It required frequent reports on Albert's status, pushed for additional information necessary to confirm whether Albert was actually making progress, and acted within its "sound discretion" in determining that "sufficient progress [was] being made to justify [Albert's] continued commitment pending trial." (*Davis*, *supra*, 8 Cal.3d at p. 807.)

Throughout these proceedings, the juvenile court was mindful of its obligation to ensure that the "nature and duration" of Albert's commitment bore "some reasonable relation to the purpose for which" he was committed, and that his continued detention "be justified by progress toward" attaining competency. (*Jackson*, *supra*, 406 U.S. at p. 738.) The court noted its "compelling duty to assure that competency can be restored . . . and to also assure that the minor receives the services necessary." (1 RT 51.) Elsewhere, the court recognized its "obligation . . . to ensure that the minor receives competency training, particularly given the March 17th, 2013 report of Dr. Kambam, which states in his opinion with reasonable medical certainty there is a substantial probability that the minor will attain competency to stand trial in the next 12 months." (1 RT 74; see 1 RT 89.)

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